
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 


ALEXANDRIA DIVISION 


FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 

v. ) Case No. 1 :97-cv-01114-GBL-TCB 

INTERNATIONAL PRODUCT DESIGN, INC.; THE ) 

INNOVATION CENTER, INC.; NATIONAL IDEA 

CENTER; AMERICAN INVENTION ASSOCIATES, ) 

INC.; INVENTION CONSULTANTS, 



whom had notice of and were subject to the Stipulated Order, have violated its core provisions in 

their capacities as managers and salespersons of defendant Julian Gumpel's ("Gumpel") 

invention promotion scheme. Specifically, Fleisher, Mormando, and Wilson have played key 

roles in a business, that, as a matter of course: (1) falsely represents to consumers that they will 

reap financial benefits; (2) falsely claims to expertly assess consumers' inventions; and (3) fails 

to disclose to consumers the business's dismal invention-commercialization record. They too 

should be held in contempt. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

In 1997, the Commission sued Gumpel, Mormando, Wilson, and several co-defendants, 

including American Invention Associates (AIA), of which Fleisher was vice president. The 

lawsuit accused defendants of violating the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. 5 45, by 

falsely representing that purchase of their invention promotion services would likely result in 

financial gain for consumers. In November 1998, this Court entered a Stipulated Order for 

Permanent Injunction ("Stipulated Order") that, inter alia, barred Gumpel, Mormando, Wilson, 

AIA, and those, like Fleisher, who acted in concert with them and received actual notice of the 

Order, fi-om making false representations with respect to invention 



(PTI). On January 10,2007, the Court issued an exparte Temporary Restraining Order (TRO) 

and an Order to Show Cause why Gumpel and the corporate contempt defendants should not be 

held in contempt for violating the Stipulated Order. Pursuant to the TRO, the Court appointed a 

Receiver, granted the Receiver and the FTC immediate access to PTI's business premises, and 

authorized expedited discovery. On January 17,2007, the Court entered a Preliminary Injunction 

continuing the terms of the TRO. 

Evidence obtained through expedited discovery shows that Fleisher, like Mormando and 

Wilson, had notice of the Stipulated Order, and that all three violated its core provisions while 

carrying on the same fraudulent business practices that gave rise to the original litigation. From 

the time of the Order's entry, Fleisher, Mormando, and Wilson served in key roles at PTI. In this 

regard, Fleisher operated as second in command to Gurnpel and supervised the sales force. 

Mormando, an original owner of the business, sold it to Gumpel during the original litigation 

and, pursuant to the sales agreement, continued to run the sales office in Reno, Nevada for PTI. 

Wilson oversaw the work of lower-level salespersons who assisted him in sales from the Reno 

office. In sum, in their capacities as managers and salespersons for PTI, Fleisher, Mormando, 

and Wilson all made false earnings claims, falsely claimed to assess inventions, and failed to 

disclose PTI's dismal record in commercializing consumers' inventions. In the process, they 

defrauded consumers of millions of dollars. For these actions, Fleisher, Mormando and Wilson 

should be held in contempt. 
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services. FTC 25 7 5, PX3127 (reflecting that Gumpel did not keep track of whether PTI 

customers obtained licensing agreements through sources other than United Licensing). 

In addition to making false earnings claims, PTI falsely represented that it assessed the 

merit, marketability, and patentability of inventions. In the survey of 265 clients of PTI 

conducted by the Receiver, 90 percent answered "yes" to the question, "Did a representative of 

the company indicate that they assess or evaluate the market potential, patentability, technical 

feasibility or merit of your idea?" FTC 26 f 10(b), PX3 133. This assessment, as set out in the 

Gumpel Contempt Memorandum, was supposed to occur at two levels. First, PTI claimed that it 

screened each initial submission and rejected many if not most of them, approving only "viable" 

proposals that satisfied "strict criteria." Second, PTI promised to provide an objective, thorough 

evaluation of inventions to consumers who purchase "Phase I"reports. In fact, both the initial 

screening and Phase I reports were merely vehicles for further sales. 

Gumpel himself admitted to the Receiver that at the initial screening stage, more than 80 

percent of submissions were approved. Id. 7 7(a), PX3 13 1. Moreover, as detailed in the Gumpel 

Contempt Memorandum, PTI's initial "screening" process approved even ideas with obvious 

flaws, such as the submission, by an undercover investigator, of a "safety" turkey fjrer that 

employed high-pressure water to suppress an oil fire. FTC 19 7 7(c), PX2383; Id., PX3021- 

PX3 022. 

Consumers who purchased the Phase I report were promised a "complete, objective, and 

honest evaluation" that would examine ideas "fi-om an unemotional, more critical viewpoint." 

See, e.g.,'FTC 4 f 5, PX0083; Id., PX0106 (emphasis in original). In fact, the Phase I report 

invariably provided a positive assessment, as indicated on a 5-point rating system. In an 





"closer" called to congratulate the consumer on the report's results, claiming PTI had particularly 

selected the invention for fi.u-ther development. In fact, PTI attempted to sell Phase I1 services to 

all Phase I purchasers. 

A key part of the Phase II sales pitch was PT17s promise that consumers who purchased 

this phase would receive patenting services and representation at trade shows by PTI's "affiliate," 

United Licensing. PTI representatives used the "no cost" benefit of trade show representation as 

an inducement to sell patenting services. FTC 4 fy 5,7,8, PX0083-84; Id., PX093, PXO101, 

PXO111, PX0141-42. Specifically, PTI representatives told consumers it was essential to pay for 

Phase I1immediately so that their inventions could be included in upcoming trade shows, at 

which United Licensing would seek licensing agreements on their behalf. 

However, after consumers paid for Phase 11 d., 



(acknowledging that trade show letter was a 



started as a salesperson for original defendant International Product Design, Inc. (IPD) in 1991, 

FTC 28, PX3267, and ended up as second in command to Gurnpel at PTI. IPD consultants sold 

the same two-phase scheme that was later sold by PTI: 1) a bogus, written evaluation of a 

consumer's invention idea; and then 2) promotion of the idea to industry through trade show 

representation. Id., PX3269. 

Fleisher admitted in his deposition that he was working for IPD and serving as an officer 

of AIA at the time of the original case.6 Correspondence found in his office, including a letter 

signed by Fleisher as AIA's vice president to the California Secretary of State, shows that he was 

vice president of AIA during the original FTC litigation. FTC 27, PX3263, PX3264. Although 

he claims not to recall the Stipulated Order itself, he admitted recalling that the FTC brought the 

initial proceedings in this case, that AIA was a named defendant, and that it was ordered to pay 

consumer redress. FTC 28, PX3271-72, PX3285 (named as defendant). Indeed, he even recalled 

administering the Order's redress fund. Id., PX3272. Moreover, a draft copy of the Stipulated 

Order, as well as a cover letter fiom an FTC attorney to the counsel for AIA in the original 

litigation, was found in Fleisher's personal office in the Las Vegas office of PTI. The draft order 

was attached to a cover letter fiom David Fix, counsel for the FTC in the original litigation, to 

Mark Davidson, counsel for AIA. FTC 27 716, PX3165; Id., PX3247. The draft included the 

AIA split into two companies during the pendency of the initial proceedings. Both 
companies kept the name "American Invention Associates," but one was based in Florida while 
the other was based in Troy, Michigan. The Florida AIA was eventually dismissed, see Docket 
Entry 60 ("Notice of Dismissal"), while AIA of Michigan remained in the case and entered into 
the November 18, 1998 Stipulated Permanent Injunction at issue in these proceedings. See FTC 
2, PX0022 (reflecting Mormando's signature as "authorized representative of American 
Invention Associates, Inc. (Troy Michigan [sic])"). For purposes of this motion "AIA"refers to 
the Michigan AIA and its predecessor corporation. 



same conduct prohibitions as the final version and also required affirmative disclosure of the 

company's track record. Id., PX325 1-53.7 

After entry of the Stipulated Order, Fleisher continued to work for the business after it 

"changed" to PTI. FTC 28, PX3270. Fleisher, known as 



representatives of manufacturers whether they would review new product ideas if submitted to 

them. FTC 28, PX3295-96, PX3297. 

Fleisher's participation in the fraud did not end with sale of Phase II. He also received 

much of PTI's patenting "work" as the sole employee, officer, and director of a corporation 

called "Aaron's & Fleisher." Id., PX3299. In this regard, PTI promised in its Phase II contracts 

that consumers would be "refer[red] . . . to a registered Patent AttorneyIAgent" for patenting 

services." See, e. g., FTC 7 7 10, PX0564; Id., PX0640 (reflecting that as part of the services 

offered in "Plan-2," "PTI will provide referred attorney with all documents relating to inventor's 

ideas . . ., upon inventor's approval of referred attorney"). However, following purchase of 

Phase II, PTI often forwarded that consumer's file to Fleisher for preparation of the provisional 

application. See, e.g., FTC 22 f 12, PX3033; Id., PX3036 (email fi-om PTI employee to 

Fleisher), PX3037-65 (attachments to email); FTC 6 7 10, PX0458. Aaron's & Fleisher 

communicated with consumers' exclusively by mail, sending letters claiming that it would file the 

provisional patent application. FTC 6 7 10, PX0458; Id., PX0554. However, Fleisher admitted 

at his deposition that he is neither attorney nor a registered patent agent, FTC 28, PX3298, and 

he invoked his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination when asked about Aaron's & 

Fleisher's business practices. Id., PX3301-09. 

Fleisher received more than $2.3 million from his contumacious conduct. According to 

an analysis by the Receiver, since 2000, Fleisher, who received a percentage of PTI's gross sales, 

was personally paid $1,379,447 by PTI, while he received another $1,084,564 through Aaron's & 

Fleisher. FTC 26 7 6, PX3131; Id., PX3139, PX3150. 







for which he is the sole officer. FTC 19 13(a)(vii)(4), PX2379; Id., PX2994-95 (checks to 

Neverland "c/o Darrell Mormando"); FTC 24 7 2, PX3 1 18; Id. ,PX3 120-2 1. 

3. Greg Wilson 

Much like Mormando, Wilson worked as a consultant and officer of an original 

defendant, signed the Stipulated Order, and then continued to engage in deceptive marketing 



PTI richly rewarded Wilson for his conh~macious behavior. Since 2000, PTI paid at least 

$1,029,835 to a corporation called Noyta, Inc., of whch Wilson is president. See FTC 26 7 6, 

PX3 13 1; Id. ,PX3 15 1 (total amount paid); FTC 19 7 3(a)(vii)(l), PX2379; Id., PX2988 (check to 

Noyta "c/o Greg Wilson"); FTC FTC 



A. All of the New Contempt Defendants are in Contempt. 

The Commission has established each of the elements of contempt by clear and 

convincing evidence. The elements of contempt are: 

(1) the existence of a valid decree of which the alleged conternnor had actual or 
constructive howledge; (2) . . . that the decree was in the movant's "favor"; (3) . . . that 
the alleged conternnor by its conduct violated the terms of the decree, and had knowledge 
(at least constructive) of such violations; and (4) . . . that [the] movant suffered harm as a 
result. 

JTH Tax, 



Fleisher, Mormando and Wilson have actual notice of and are bound by the Stipulated 

Order. Mormando and Wilson have notice because they are signed parties to the Order. SEC v. 

Current Fin. Sews., Inc., 798 F. Supp. 802, 806 n.11 (D.D.C. 1992) (assuming that parties to the 

action had notice of its orders). Fleisher, though not a signed party, also has notice. He served as 

Vice President of AIA, an original corporate defendant, during the initial proceedings. As 

discussed above in Section II.B.l, Fleisher was 









invention ideas. In interviews with the Receiver, Gumpel has admitted that his business never 

sent out this disclosure. 

As discussed in Section 1I.B above, none of the New Contempt Defendants sent or 

directed anyone to send the Affirmative Disclosure document to consumers. This violated 

Section 11of the Stipulated Order. Given that the Affirmative Disclosure would have revealed 

PTI's complete lack of success in helping other consumers to commercialize their inventions, 

this failure also violated Section 1(7) of the Order, which prohibits the misrepresentation, directly 

or by implicated, of "any fact material to a consumer's decision to purchase invention promotion 

services." 

d)  The New Contempt Defendants Have Facilitated Gumpel's 
Order Violations. 

In addition to their direct violations, Fleisher, Mormando and Wilson have facilitated 

Gumpel's violations of the Stipulated Order's core provisions through their supervisory roles in 

the business. "[IJt has long been recognized that a nonparty may be held in civil contempt if, and 

to the extent that, he knowingly aids or abets an enjoined party in transgressing a court order." 

Goya Foods, Inc. v. WallackMgmt. Co., 290 F.3d 63, 75 (1st Cir. 2002).1° Fleisher, Mormando 

and Wilson all helped Gumpel by ensuring that his salespersons were effective in deceiving 

consumers, in violation of Sections 1(1) and 1(3) of the Order. In addition, their inaction 

facilitated Gumpel's refusal to provide consumers with the disclosure statement required by 

Section II of the Order. 

'O In Goya Foods, the alleged contemners had facilitated a party's sale of property subject 
to an asset fi-eeze. The court upheld the finding of contempt against the third parties (including 
an unrelated purchaser) because they knew of the decree and participated in actions that violated 
it. Id. at 76. 



4. The Commission is Harmed by Defendants' Violations. 

The Commission is harmed by the acts of Fleisher, Mormando and Wilson because their 

violations of the Stipulated Order harm consumers. "Congress established the FTC at least in 

part 'to protect consumers from economic injuries."'FTC v. Kuykendall, 371 F.3d 745, 753 

(10th Cir. 2004) (quoting FTC v. Febre, 128 F.3d 530, 536 (7th Cir. 1997)). The Commission is 

therefore justified in seeking civil contempt for violation of an order that provided for consumer 

redress and for "ongoing regulation of the defendants' business practices" where those 

regulations were intended in part to prevent further consumer injury. Id. at 753-54; see also SEC 

v. Dowdell, No. 301CV00116,2002 WL 31248028, at *2 (W.D. Va. Sept. 30,2002) (holding in 

civil fi-aud case that "the fourth element - that movant suffered harm as a result - can be easily 

disposed of in favor of '  the SEC"); cJ:SECv. Moss, 644 F.2d 313,316 (4th Cir. 1981) (affirming 

district court's grant of public agency's petition for civil contempt against defendant for failure to 

comply with consent judgment). 

B.  The New Contempt Defendants Should Be Liable for Any Compensatory 
Sanctions Imposed in the Final Contempt Order. 

As set forth in Section III.B of the Contempt Memorandum, which is herein incorporated 

by reference, the final contempt order should provide for civil sanctions to compensate the 

victims of contempt defendants' invention promotion scheme, and the monend r815 0 Td�1foD260i1a1 0 Td�(t.n )Tj�2.70a  





V, CONCLUSION 

For all of the reasons stated above,.the Commission requests,that its motion be granted.. 

RespectmySubmitted, 
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